
GREGG COUNTY, TEXAS

ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE
FINANCIAL REPORT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30, 2021



GREGG COUNTY, TEXAS

ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE
FINANCIAL REPORT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30, 2021

Prepared By:
Gregg County Auditor’s Office

Laurie Woloszyn, County Auditor



GREGG COUNTY, TEXAS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021

Page
Number

INTRODUCTORY SECTION

   Letter of Transmittal................................................................................................................................ i – iv

GFOA Certificate of Achievement ........................................................................................................ v

   Organizational Chart ............................................................................................................................... vi

   Directory of Officials .............................................................................................................................. vii

   
FINANCIAL SECTION

   Independent Auditors’ Report ................................................................................................................. 1 – 2

   Management’s Discussion and Analysis ................................................................................................. 3 – 13

   Basic Financial Statements:

      Government-wide Financial Statements:

         Statement of Net Position .................................................................................................................. 14

         Statement of Activities ...................................................................................................................... 15 – 16

      Fund Financial Statements:

         Balance Sheet – Governmental Funds............................................................................................... 17 – 18

Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds to the
            Statement of Net Position ............................................................................................................... 19

         Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
            Fund Balances – Governmental Funds ........................................................................................... 20 – 21

         Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures
            and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the
            Statement of Activities ................................................................................................................... 22

         Statement of Net Position – Proprietary Funds ................................................................................. 23

         Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in 
            Net Position – Proprietary Funds.................................................................................................... 24

        



GREGG COUNTY, TEXAS

TABLE OF CONTENTS
(Continued)

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021

Page
Number

FINANCIAL SECTION (Continued)

      Fund Financial Statements (Continued):

         Statement of Cash Flows – Proprietary Funds................................................................................... 25

         Statement of Fiduciary Net Position – Custodial Funds .................................................................... 26
       
         Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position – Custodial Funds ................................................. 27

      Notes to Financial Statements .............................................................................................................. 28 – 50

   Required Supplementary Information:

      Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in 
         Fund Balances – Budget and Actual – General Fund ........................................................................ 51 – 65

      Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
         Fund Balances – Budget and Actual – Road and Bridge Fund.......................................................... 66 – 68

    Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
        Fund Balances – Budget and Actual – Capital Improvements ........................................................... 69

    Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
        Fund Balances – Budget and Actual – Airport Capital Improvements............................................... 70

    Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
        Fund Balances – Budget and Actual – American Rescue Plan........................................................... 71
     
      Notes to the Required Supplementary Information – Budgetary Schedules......................................... 72

      Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability
         and Related Ratios............................................................................................................................. 73

      Schedule of Employer Contributions.................................................................................................... 74

      Notes to Schedule of Employer Contributions ..................................................................................... 75
    
   Combining and Individual Fund Statements and Schedules:

      Nonmajor Governmental Funds:

         Combining Balance Sheet ................................................................................................................. 76 – 78

         Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and
            Changes in Fund Balances.............................................................................................................. 79 – 81



GREGG COUNTY, TEXAS

TABLE OF CONTENTS
(Continued)

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021

Page
Number

FINANCIAL SECTION (Continued)

   Combining and Individual Fund Statements and Schedules (Continued): 

      Internal Service Funds:

        Combining Statement of Net Position ............................................................................................... 82

         Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses
            and Changes in Net Position........................................................................................................... 83

         Combining Statement of Cash Flows ................................................................................................ 84

      Custodial Funds:

         Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Position............................................................................... 85 – 86

         Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position ............................................................ 87 – 88

Budgetary Comparison Schedules:
Airport.......................................................................................................................................... 89
Law Enforcement ......................................................................................................................... 90
Court Technology and Security.................................................................................................... 91
Records Management and Preservation ....................................................................................... 92
Voting and Elections .................................................................................................................... 93
Grants ........................................................................................................................................... 94
Law Library.................................................................................................................................. 95
Health Care .................................................................................................................................. 96
Coronavirus Relief ....................................................................................................................... 97

Table
STATISTICAL SECTION

  Net Position by Component..................................................................................................................... 1.1 98 – 99

   Changes in Net Position .......................................................................................................................... 1.2 100 – 103

   Fund Balances of Governmental Funds................................................................................................... 1.3 104 – 105

   Change in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds ................................................................................. 1.4 106 – 107

   Assessed Value and Estimated Taxable Value of Property ..................................................................... 2.1 108

   Property Tax Rates – Direct and Overlapping Governments .................................................................. 2.2 109

   Principal Taxpayers ................................................................................................................................. 2.3 110

   Property Tax Levies and Collections....................................................................................................... 2.4 111

   Governmental Revenue by Source .......................................................................................................... 2.5 112



GREGG COUNTY, TEXAS

TABLE OF CONTENTS
(Continued)

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021

Page
Table Number

STATISTICAL SECTION (Continued)

   Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type ....................................................................................................... 3.1 113

   Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding .......................................................................................... 3.2 114

   Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt........................................................................... 3.3 115

   Legal Debt Margin Information .............................................................................................................. 3.4 116 – 117

   Demographic and Economic Statistics .................................................................................................... 4.1 118

   Principal Employers ................................................................................................................................ 4.2 119

   County Employees by Function .............................................................................................................. 5.1 120 – 121

   Operating Indicators by Function/Program ............................................................................................. 5.2 122

   Capital Asset Statistics by Function/Program ......................................................................................... 5.3 123

  Schedule of Insurance.............................................................................................................................. 5.4 124

SINGLE AUDIT SECTION

   Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and
      on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of
      Financial Statements Performed in Accordance With
      Government Auditing Standards .......................................................................................................... 125 – 126 

   Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance With 
      Requirements Applicable to Each Major Program and 
      Internal Control Over Compliance in Accordance With 
      the Uniform Guidance .......................................................................................................................... 127 – 128

   Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards.......................................................................................... 129 – 130

   Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ........................................................................... 131

   Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs ........................................................................................... 132 – 133 

   Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings............................................................................................ 134



INTRODUCTORY SECTION











Government Finance Officers Association

Certificate of 
Achievement
for Excellence

in Financial 
Reporting

Presented to

Gregg County
Texas

For its Annual Comprehensive
Financial Report

For the Fiscal Year Ended

September 30, 2020

Executive Director/CEO



G
re

gg
 C

ou
n

ty
 O

rg
an

iz
at

io
n

 C
h

ar
t

   
  a

s 
of

 S
ep

te
m

b
er

 3
0

, 2
0

21

G
re

gg
 C

ou
nt

y 
C

it
iz

en
s

D
is

tr
ic

t J
ud

ge
s 

12
4t

h,
 1

88
th

, 
30

7t
h 

 

C
ou

nt
y 

A
ud

ito
r

C
SC

D
 B

oa
rd

C
om

m
un

ity
 

Su
pe

rv
is

io
n 

C
or

re
ct

io
ns

 
D

iv
is

io
n

Ju
ve

ni
le

 B
oa

rd

Ju
ve

ni
le

 P
ro

ba
tio

n 
an

d 
D

et
en

tio
n

C
ou

nt
y 

Ju
dg

e

Pu
rc

ha
si

ng
 

B
oa

rd

Pu
rc

ha
si

ng

El
ec

te
d 

O
ffi

ci
al

s

B
oa

rd
 A

pp
oi

nt
ed

O
ffi

ci
al

s

C
om

m
. C

ou
rt

 O
ve

rs
ig

ht

R
oa

d 
&

 B
rid

ge
 

Pr
ec

in
ct

s 
(4

)

C
ou

nt
y 

C
ou

rt
s-

at
-

La
w

 (2
)  

D
is

tr
ic

t 
A

tto
rn

ey

C
ou

nt
y 

D
ep

ar
tm

en
ts

 a
nd

 
In

te
rg

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l A

rr
an

ge
m

en
ts

A
irp

or
t

D
PS

 (C
le

rk
 o

nl
y)

El
ec

tio
ns

 / 
Vo

te
r R

eg
is

tr
at

io
n

Ex
te

ns
io

n 
O

ffi
ce

H
ea

lth
 D

ep
ar

tm
en

t
H

is
to

ric
al

 C
om

m
is

si
on

H
um

an
 R

es
ou

rc
es

In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

Se
rv

ic
es

La
w

 L
ib

ra
ry

M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 D
ep

ar
tm

en
t

R
ec

or
ds

 M
an

ag
em

en
t

Ve
te

ra
ns

 S
er

vi
ce

s

D
is

tr
ic

t
C

le
rk

C
om

m
is

si
on

er
s 

(4
)

C
ou

nt
y 

Sh
er

iff
C

ou
nt

y 
C

le
rk

Ta
x 

A
ss

es
so

r
/C

ol
le

ct
or

C
on

st
ab

le
s 

(4
)

Ju
st

ic
es

 
of

 th
e 

Pe
ac

e 
(4

)

D
ir

ec
tio

n 
of

 A
ut

ho
ri

ty



Gregg County, Texas
Directory of Officials
September 30, 2021

Elected:

Bill Stoudt County Judge
Ronnie McKinney Commissioner, Precinct 1
Darryl Primo Commissioner, Precinct 2
Floyd Wingo Commissioner, Precinct 3
Shannon Brown Commissioner, Precinct 4
Tom Watson District Attorney
Trey Hattaway District Clerk
Michelle Gilley County Clerk
Kirk Shields Tax Assessor Collector
Maxey Cerliano Sheriff
Mike Grisham Constable, Precinct #1
Billy Fort Constable, Precinct #2
John Slagle Constable, Precinct #3
Daryl Lynn Gregg Constable, Precinct #4

Judicial

Scott Novy Judge, 188th District Court
Alfonso Charles Judge, 124th District Court
Tim Womack Judge, 307th District Court
Kent Phillips Judge, County Court At Law #1
Vincent Dulweber Judge, County Court At Law #2
B. H. Jameson Justice of the Peace, Precinct #1
Tim Bryan Justice of the Peace, Precinct #2
Talyna Carlson Justice of the Peace, Precinct #3
Robby Cox Justice of the Peace, Precinct #4

Appointed:

Laurie Woloszyn County Auditor
Gary Davis Community Supervision Director
Bing Canion Juvenile Probation Director
Kelli Davis Purchasing Director

Other County Officials

Kevin Marshall Veterans Service Officer
Mandy Patrick County Extension Agent
Linda Bailey Budget Director
Kathryn Nealy Elections Administrator
Roy Miller Airport Manager
Lewis Browne Administrator/Health Authority
Mike Heidger Human Resources Director
Derold Miller Information Services Director





 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The Honorable County Judge 
and Members of the Commissioners Court

Gregg County
Longview, Texas

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the discretely presented 
component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Gregg County, Texas (the 
“County”), as of and for the year ended September 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the County’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable 
to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United 
States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial
position of the governmental activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the County as of September 30, 2021, and the respective changes in financial position, 
and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America.



Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion 
and analysis and required supplementary information, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the 
basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing 
the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain 
limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing 
the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the 
basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do 
not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us 
with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise 
the County’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, combining and individual fund financial statements 
and schedules and statistical section are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the 
basic financial statements. The schedule of expenditures of federal awards is required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for 
Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) and is also not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules and the schedule of expenditures of federal 
awards are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare 
the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining 
and individual fund financial statements and schedules and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are fairly 
stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 28, 2022, on our 
consideration of the County’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to 
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that 
testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the County’s 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Longview, Texas
June 28, 2022
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As management of Gregg County (the “County”), we offer readers of the County’s financial statements this narrative 
overview and analysis of the financial activities of the County for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021. We 
encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with additional information that we have 
furnished in the notes to financial statements and our letter of transmittal, which can be found on pages i-iv of this 
report.

The Gregg County Child Welfare component unit is not included in this discussion and analysis due to the immaterial 
nature of the program in relation to the County’s finances.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the County exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 
at the close of fiscal year 2021 by $131,413,166 (net position). Of this amount, $59,464,100 (unrestricted net position) 
may be used to meet the County’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.

The County’s total net position increased by $2,209,821, including restatement for GASB 84 
(note 1) and prior period adjustment (Note 2).

The County’s total assets and deferred outflows increased by $15,245,866 and total liabilities 
and deferred inflows of resources increased by $13,036,045 during the current fiscal year. 

As of September 30, 2021, the County’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund 
balances of $74,391,067, an increase of $6,967,879 or 10% in comparison with the prior year
(as restated). $38,974,682 (52%) is available for spending at the County’s discretion 
(unassigned fund balance). $17,803,238 (24%) is fund balance assigned for capital projects, 
transportation and road improvements, public safety, drug court operations and other projects.

At the end of fiscal year 2021, total unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was 
$38,974,682 or 93% of total General Fund expenditures, compared to $40,021,182 (restated)
or 97% in 2020 and $41,665,065 or 106% in 2019.

Total revenue for governmental activities increased 14%.

Total expenses for the County increased by $1,543,588 or 2.69%. The program to have the 
largest increase in expenses was public safety at $908,933 or 4.28%.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the County’s basic financial statements. The 
County’s financial statements are comprised of three components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund 
financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other supplementary 
information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.

Government-wide Financial Statements: The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers 
with a broad overview of the County’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business.

The statement of net position presents information on all of the County’s assets and liabilities with the difference between 
the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of 
whether the financial position of the County is improving or deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the County’s net position changed during the most 
recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change 
occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for 
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some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused 
vacation leave).

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the County that are principally supported 
by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to recover 
all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental
activities of the County include general government, public safety, judicial, health and human services, public 
buildings and transportation and roads. The County does not report any business-type activities. 

The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 14 – 16 of this report.

Fund Financial Statements: A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources 
that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The County, like other state and local governments, uses 
fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of 
the County can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds.

Governmental Funds: Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as 
governmental activities in the government wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial 
statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, 
as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful 
in evaluating the County’s near-term financing requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is 
useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for 
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the 
long-term impact of the County’s near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the 
governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to 
facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.

The County maintains 19 individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the governmental 
fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances 
for the General, Road and Bridge, Capital Improvement, Airport Capital Improvement, and the American Rescue Plan 
Funds all of which are considered to be major funds. Data from the other 14 governmental funds are combined into a 
single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of these non-major governmental funds is provided in 
the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.

The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 17 – 22 of this report.

Proprietary Funds: Internal service funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs internally 
among the County’s various functions. The County uses internal service funds to account for self-funding for medical 
and dental insurance and print shop activities. Because both of these services exclusively benefit governmental rather 
than business-type functions, they have been included within governmental activities in the government-wide financial 
statements.

The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 23 – 25 of this report.

Fiduciary Funds: Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the County. 
Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statement because the resources of those funds are 
not available to support the County’s own programs.

The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on pages 26 and 27 of this report.

Notes to the Financial Statements: The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding 
of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the financial statements can 
be found on pages 28 – 50 of this report.



5

Other Information: In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents 
certain required supplementary information concerning the County’s progress in funding its obligation to provide 
pension benefits to its employees. Additionally, the County adopts an annual appropriated budget for its General Fund,
Road and Bridge Fund, Capital Improvement Fund, Airport Improvement Fund, and the American Rescue Plan Fund. 
Budgetary comparison schedules have been provided for these major funds to demonstrate compliance with these 
budgets. Required supplementary information can be found on pages 51 – 75 of this report.

The combining and individual statements and schedules referred to earlier are presented immediately following the 
required supplementary information. Combining and individual fund statements and schedules can be found on pages 
76 – 97 of this report. 

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. In the 
case of the County, assets exceeded liabilities by $131,413,166 at the close of the most recent fiscal year.

The County’s investment in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, machinery, and equipment), less any related debt used 
to acquire those assets that is still outstanding, is 44% of net position, compared to 48% in the last fiscal year. The 
County uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future 
spending. Although the County’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that 
the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot 
be used to liquidate these liabilities. 

An additional portion of the County’s net position ($13,799,390) represents resources that are subject to external 
restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net position, $59,464,100 (44%) may be 
used to meet the County’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.

At the end of the current fiscal year, the County is able to report positive balances in all three categories of net position. 

2021 2020

Current and other assets 91,140,486$       78,873,791$       
Capital assets 58,149,955      61,790,112      
        Total assets 149,290,441    140,663,903    

Deferred outflows of resources 9,521,943        2,902,615        

Long-term liabilities 8,964,702        5,440,649        
Other liabilities 11,601,775      4,042,163        
        Total liabilities 20,566,477      9,482,812        

Deferred inflows of resources 6,832,741        4,880,361        

Net position:
   Net investment in
         capital assets 58,149,676      61,788,768      
   Restricted 13,799,390      10,860,836      
   Unrestricted 59,464,100      56,553,741      

        Total net position 131,413,166$     129,203,345$     

Governmental Activities

Gregg County's Net Position
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Governmental Activities: Governmental activities increased the County’s net position by $2,209,821 (after 
restatement and prior period adjustment) for a 2% increase of the total net position of the County compared to a 
decrease of 0.6% last fiscal year.

2021 2020
Revenues:
   Program revenues:
      Charges for services 11,037,484$      9,770,591$        
      Operating grants  
         and contributions 9,148,958          2,620,919          
      Capital grants  
         and contributions 554,472             1,639,363          
   General revenues:
      Property taxes 23,901,293        23,486,627        
      Sales taxes 18,705,939        17,267,702        
      Other taxes 416,399             353,646             
      Investment earnings 261,203             1,283,662          
      Miscellaneous 343,423             207,183             
            Total revenues 64,369,171        56,629,693        

Expenses:
   General government 14,832,112        14,395,419        
   Judicial 8,190,162          8,725,085          
   Public safety 22,130,067        21,221,134        
   Health and human 
      services 3,460,025          3,086,783          
   Public buildings 3,906,247          3,756,749          
   Transportation and roads 6,464,096          6,253,874          
   Interest on long-term debt 73                      150                    

Toal expenses 58,982,782        57,439,194        

Change in net position 5,386,389          (809,501)            
Net position, beginning - restated (GASB 84) 129,413,658      130,012,846      
    Prior period adjustment (Note 2) (3,386,881)         -                     
Net position, ending 131,413,166$    129,203,345$    

Governmental Activities
Gregg County's Changes in Net Position

The net cost of County services decreased $5,166,453 or 12% compared to a 2% decrease in fiscal year 2020.

Function/Program 2021 2020

General Government (10,358,014)$    (9,084,514)$      
Judicial (6,162,487)        (6,641,818)        
Public Safety (18,986,655)      (19,545,065)      
Health and Human Services 3,306,943         (1,967,497)        
Public Buildings (2,078,046)        (2,120,725)        
Transportation and Roads (3,963,536)        (4,048,552)        
Interest on long-term debt (73)                    (150)                  

     Total (38,241,868)$ (43,408,321)$ 

Net Cost of Governmental Activities for Gregg County
By Function for the Fiscal Years Ended September 30

Net Cost of Services
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Comparison of government-wide expenses by function. Total expenses increased by $1,543,588 or 2.69%.

Key elements of the analysis of government-wide revenues and expenses reflect the following:

Program revenues for governmental activities of $20,740,914 equaled 35% of total
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governmental activities expenses of $58,982,782. As expected, general revenues of 
$43,628,257 provided the additional support and coverage for expenses. Program revenues 
consist of charges for services, operating and capital grants. General revenues consist mainly 
of sales and property tax which are not attributable to a specific program.

Over 38% of the expenses are for public safety ($22,130,067) reflecting the continuing demands 
on law enforcement. This program provided 15% ($3,143,412) of the total governmental 
activities revenues and 5% of the total of all revenues for the year.

The next largest category of expenses for governmental activities is general government which 
equals $14,832,112 or 25% of total expenses. General government provided 22% or $4,474,098
of the government activity revenue and 7% of the total of all revenues for the year.

Judicial expenses for the County for the year accounted for 14% or $8,190,162 of the expenses 
while this category provided for 10% or $2,027,675 of the governmental activities revenue and 
3% of the total of all revenues for the year.

Transportation and Roads accounted for $6,464,096 or 11% of the governmental activities 
expenses while this category provided for  12% or $2,500,560 of government activities revenue 
and 4% of the total of all revenues.

Capital Grant Revenues and Contributions comprised 2.7% of the general government activity 
revenue and 1% of the total government activities revenue, 100% of which was in the general 
government program. Operating grants and contributions accounts for 15% of total 
governmental revenue distributed throughout most programs above.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE COUNTY’S FUNDS

As noted earlier, the County uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal 
requirements.

Governmental Funds: The focus of the County’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, 
outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the County’s financing 
requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s net resources 
available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.
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At the end of fiscal year 2021, the County’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of 
$74,391,069, an increase of $6,967,879 (10%) in comparison with the prior year (as restated). Unassigned fund 
balance accounts for 52% or $38,974,682 of the total. An additional $17,803,240 (24%) is assigned fund balance and 
is constituted mostly of CIP funds. Committed fund balance total is $4,400,558 or 6% of total fund balance and would 
require a Commissioners’ Court order to use for any other purpose. $12,531,158 or 17% of the total ending fund 
balance is reported as restricted fund balance. The remainder of fund balance is nonspendable to indicate it is not 
available for new spending because it has already been used to purchase inventories ($666,576) and prepaids
($14,855).

General Fund

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the County. At the end of fiscal year 2021, the General Fund had an 
ending fund balance of $40,646,416 with 2% restricted for certain purposes. 

As a measure of the General Fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare unassigned fund balance to total fund 
expenditures. Unassigned fund balance of $38,974,682 represents 93% of total General Fund expenditures. 

As a result of implementing GASB 84, the General Fund was restated as of September 30, 2020 in the amount of 
$210,314. The General Fund balance decreased by $829,760 (2%) during the 2021 fiscal year as detailed below.   

General Fund Highlights:

Property tax revenue increased $206,596, mainly due to the new property added to the tax roll.

Sales tax revenues increased 10% or $1,589,298 compared to FY20 collections.  Last year the sales 
tax decrease from the prior year was 7% or $1,172,921.

Actual total expenditures of $41,911,256 were $4,584,756, or 10% under final budget 
appropriations and are $534,571 or 1% higher than FY20 expenditures.

Actual total revenues of $47,290,455 were 8% or $3,624,141 above the estimated revenues in the 
FY21 General Fund revenue.

Total General Fund revenues increased by $2,718,082, a 6% increase from FY20.  This was due to 
the partial sales tax economic recovery from the pandemic and increase leased jail space for out of 
county inmates.

Total other financing uses totaled $6,483,599 due to transfers primarily to fund capital projects now 
and planned for the future.   Other financing sources were $274,640, 68% for insurance recoveries.

Differences between the original budget and the final amended budget can be briefly summarized 
as follows:

o A decrease of $553,416 or 1.25% in budgeted revenues.
o An increase of $1,501,305, 3.34% in budgeted expenditures.

Road and Bridge Fund Highlights:

The Road and Bridge Fund had an ending fund balance of $2,220,594, a decrease of $549,480.  Of 
the ending fund balance, $639,671 or 28.81% is nonspendable for inventories and $10,157 or .46% 
is assigned for other projects. The remaining balance of $1,570,766 or 70.74% is restricted for use 
on road and bridge projects.
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Road and Bridge FY21 revenue increased 5% or $210,052 from the prior year.   The increase can 
be attributed mostly to the increase in fine revenue and an Interlocal Agreement with Kilgore 
College for work where costs are reimbursed.  Road and Bridge projects over $100,000 are 
accounted for in capital account 420.

Total FY21 Road and Bridge operating expenditures increased slightly, $159,544 or 3.5% from 
FY20. 

Other financing sources totaled $167,422 and include transfers in from the Capital Fund for road 
maintenance that did not meet the capitalization threshold or from the General Fund for non-road 
and bridge projects and the sale of capital assets for $7,422.  Other financing uses totaled $288,165 
and include transfers out to purchase capital equipment.

Road projects when the costs are over $100,000 are capitalized and accounted for in the Road and 
Bridge Capital Projects Fund instead of the Road and Bridge Fund.  Both funds should be reviewed 
for the proper analysis of all road and bridge expenditures.

The difference between the original revenue budget and final budget was $596,481 or 15%.  Final 
expenditures budgeted for Road and Bridge were $4,843,517, which was an increase of $355,909, 
an 8% increase over the original budget. Precinct 1 and Precinct 4 reported budget overages due to
a non-cash adjustment to the value of donated Reclaimed Asphalt Pavement (RAP). Texas 
Department of Transportation provided information on the valuation of donated RAP, which the 
County used to adjust their inventory of RAP. The inventory adjustment was required for inventory 
accounting in accordance with GAAP, which is the basis the County uses for budget reporting. 
However, there was not an overage on the available resources method (i.e. cash method) therefore 
the budget amendment was inadvertently overlooked.

Capital Improvement Fund Highlights:

The County adopts a five-year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) annually designating funds for major facility and 
infrastructure improvements. Only individual projects adopted by the Commissioners Court as part of each budget are 
considered “approved” projects. Unexpended fund balance rolls forward to the next budget year on contracted projects 
only. During each subsequent year estimates are used for planning purposes and are reevaluated for approval during 
each annual budget process. The Court identifies capital projects, updates the five-year plan and sets aside available 
funds with the desire to minimize future debt impact. The CIP develops a clearer path for future capital improvements.

During FY21 Road and Bridge infrastructure upgrades totaled to $716,183.

Capitalized road and bridge projects completed this year include the following:
o Airline Road
o Mt Pisgah

There were no Capital Road Projects in Progress at year end.

Airport Capital Improvement Fund Highlights:

During FY21 Airport Capital Improvements completed, both in infrastructure and capital other than buildings 
totaled $2,161,799.

Major infrastructure project completions for the year include the following:
o Construct Apron SW GA Area Phase 2
o Taxiway November Bypass
o Perimeter Road Phases 2 & 3
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Construction in Progress at year end were:
o Runway 13/31 Design Rehab

American Rescue Plan Fund Highlights:

As of June, 2021, the County added a major fund due to the size of the American Rescue Plan Act Grant. 
This is a grant and was received by the County due to the COVID 19 pandemic. The total allotment paid over 
two years is expected at $24,074,863.
Though the end of FY21 eligible uses designated by the Court for assistance are as follows: 

Emergency Communications Infrastructure
Hazard Pay for Law Enforcement
Water and Sewer Infrastructure 
Assistance to Local Hospitals for Retention of Critical Staff
Lost Revenue

CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

The County adopted its Capital Asset Policy in 2003. Depreciation policies were adopted to include useful life and 
classification by function. In fiscal year 2017 the Court approved the increase in the infrastructure threshold from 
$25,000 to $100,000. Standard capitalization thresholds are established for each major class of asset and are as follows:

Building/improvements 25,000$      
Improvements other than building 25,000     
Infrastructure 100,000   
Machinery, equipment and other assets 5,000       
Construction in progress 25,000     

Capital Assets: As of September 30, 2021, the County’s investment in capital assets amounts to $58,149,952 (net of 
accumulated depreciation). This investment in capital assets includes land, buildings, building improvements, 
machinery and equipment, construction in progress and airport infrastructure.

2021 2020

Land 2,679,181$       2,670,667$       
Construction in progress 1,308,055      4,366,818      
Buildings and improvements 23,529,643    23,477,976    
Machinery and equipment 4,925,724      4,753,682      
Infrastructure 25,707,352    26,520,969    

            Total 58,149,955$     61,790,112$     

Governmental Activities

Capital Improvements and Asset Acquisitions

During FY21 capital equipment expenditures total $1,385,303.

Major capital assets acquired during fiscal year 2021 include the following:
o Various vehicle, trucks and van replacements for law enforcement and other departments
o Numerous vehicle and body cameras,
o Document Management System 
o Volvo Wheeled Excavator and John Deere Boom Ax for road and bridge work. 

During FY21 capital improvements and renovations completed totaled $2,091,714.
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Major capital improvements during fiscal year 2021 include the following:
o Modernization of Elevator 5 & 6
o North Jail Roof & Rear Wall Project
o Elderville Community Building Renovation
o Juvenile Building Renovation
o North Jail Fire Alarm System

Expended in FY21 for Construction in Progress was $761,198 and include:
o Parking Garage Preliminary Project
o County Court Renovations

Additional information on the County’s capital assets can be found in Note 5 on page 41 of this report.

Long-term Debt: The County has no bonded indebtedness at this time. Long-term liabilities at the end of the fiscal 
year total $8,964,703, which is for an accrual for compensated absences of $1,278,621 (14.26%), capital lease payables 
of $279 (.003%) and a net pension liability of $7,685,803 (85.73%).

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND RATES

The annual budget is developed to provide efficient and economic uses of the County's resources, as well as a means 
to accomplish the highest priority objectives. Through the budget, the County Judge and the Commissioners set the 
direction of the County, allocate its resources and establish its priorities.

In considering the County budget for fiscal year 2022, the Court considered and/or approved the following:

A slight increase in the tax base valuation was realized from $9.32 billion in the prior year to $9.49 
billion.   As of December 2021, the preliminary county unemployment rate was 8.0%.

The recent economic impact of the pandemic is expected to level out and sales tax revenue is 
expected to return to normal and the economy recovery to follow. 

There is no plan to issue debt in the fiscal year 2022 budget year although discussions continue on 
options for the financing of the potential parking garage structure. The County's debt position 
continues to remain favorable. 

The tax rate approved to fund the FY22 budget was .2975 per $100 valuation. The increased rate is 
the first rate increase since 2012. The new rate along with excess reserves will adequately fund the 
FY22 budget.

Budgeted revenue adopted County-wide for FY22 is $55,396,241 and the budgeted expenditures 
are $62,703,810.   Total ending fund balance for all funds is estimated at $54,150,048. 

Reserves continue to fund capital projects on the “pay-as-you-go” basis which the Commissioners 
Court encourages. Additionally, other financing sources are budgeted at $8,677,400 and other 
financing uses are budgeted at $9,013,900. These sources and uses consist mainly of transfers into 
or out of funds for large capital projects.

Major new capital acquisitions and capital infrastructure improvements budgeted for FY22 include 
Road and Bridge upgrades totaling $1,150,024, $850,000 for continuation of a Parking Facility 
Design Project, various technology upgrades ($199,794), heavy equipment for the Road 
departments ($1,078,217) and sheriff  and precinct vehicles ($360,634).  

The FY22 budget includes $1,000,000 discretionary funding to be banked for a large future project 
on Runway 13/31 overlay and Taxiway Charlie project estimated at $21 million.  The Airport 
Capital projects are funded usually at 90% reimbursement from the Federal Aviation 
Administration.
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REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the County’s finances for all those with an interest 
in the County’s finances and show the County’s accountability for the money it receives. Questions concerning any 
of the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to Laurie 
Woloszyn, Auditor’s Office, 101 E. Methvin, Ste. 306, Longview, TX 75601 or visit the County’s website at 
www.co.gregg.tx.us.
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GREGG COUNTY, TEXAS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accompanying basic financial statements of Gregg County, Texas (the “County”) have been prepared in 
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for local governmental units. The Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental 
accounting and financial reporting principles. These notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the basic 
financial statements of the County. The following is a discussion of the more significant accounting policies utilized 
by the County.

A. Reporting Entity

Gregg County is a political subdivision of the State of Texas. The Commissioners’ Court, which is made up of 
four commissioners and the County Judge, is the governing body of the County. The accompanying financial 
statements present the government and its component unit, an entity for which the government is considered to 
be financially accountable. The discretely presented component unit is reported in a separate column in the 
government-wide financial statements to emphasize that it is both legally and substantively separate from the 
government. 

Discretely presented component unit – The Gregg County Child Welfare Board is responsible for providing 
additional assistance to foster children in the care of the State. The Gregg County Commissioners’ Court 
appoints the Board and has the ability to exercise control over the Board. Separately issued financial statements 
are available for the Gregg County Child Welfare Board and can be obtained by contacting the Gregg County, 
Texas County Auditor’s office, 101 E. Methvin, Suite 306, Longview, TX 75601.

B. Basis of Presentation – Government-Wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of activities) report 
information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and its component unit. All fiduciary 
activities are reported only in the fund financial statements. Governmental activities, which normally are supported 
by taxes and intergovernmental revenue, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a 
significant extent on fees and charges to external customers for support. Likewise, the primary government is 
reported separately from certain legally separate component units for which the primary government is financially 
accountable.

While separate government-wide and fund financial statements are presented, they are interrelated. The 
governmental activities column incorporates data from governmental funds and internal service funds. Separate 
financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, even though 
the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements.

As discussed earlier, the government has one discretely presented component unit. While the Child Welfare 
Board is not considered to be a major component unit, it is nevertheless shown in a separate column in the 
government-wide financial statements.

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial 
statements. Exceptions to this general rule are interfund services provided and used that would distort the direct 
costs and program revenues reported for the various functions concerned.

C.   Basis of Presentation – Fund Financial Statements

The fund financial statements provide information about the County’s funds, including its fiduciary funds. 
Separate statements for each fund category - governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary - are presented. The 
emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental funds, each displayed in a separate column. All 
remaining governmental funds are aggregated and reported as nonmajor funds. Major individual governmental
funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. 
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GREGG COUNTY, TEXAS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED

C.   Basis of Presentation – Fund Financial Statements – Continued

The County reports the following major governmental funds:

The General Fund is the County’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources 
of the general government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund.  

The Road and Bridge Fund uses property taxes, licenses and permits, intergovernmental revenue 
and fines and forfeitures to fund the operation, construction and maintenance of roads and bridges.

The Capital Improvement Fund accounts for activities associated with the County’s Capital 
Improvement Plan. This plan encompasses future capital asset acquisition and construction.

The Airport Capital Improvement Fund accounts for federal grant funding used for capital 
improvements for the East Texas Regional Airport.

The American Rescue Plan Fund accounts for Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 
received as a result of the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021.

Additionally, the County reports the following fund types:

Internal Service Funds account for insurance/risk management services and print services 
provided to other departments on a cost reimbursement basis.

Fiduciary Funds are used to report assets held in a trustee or fiduciary capacity for others and 
therefore cannot be used to support the government’s own programs.  The County reports ten
fiduciary funds.  Fiduciary funds are used to account for assets held by the County as an agent on 
behalf of various third parties outside the primary government for reasons including legal, 
contractual, or operational.  Examples include funds placed in trust for minors and funds placed in 
escrow awaiting a court order, tax collections on behalf of other governments and the state, state 
funds held for adult and juvenile probation services, and funds held for the Local Provider 
Participation Fund.  A full listing and description of the County’s fiduciary funds can be found in 
the combining and individual fund financial statements. 

D. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

The accounting and financial reporting treatment is determined by the applicable measurement focus and basis 
of accounting. Measurement focus indicates the type of resources being measured such as current financial 
resources or economic resources. The basis of accounting indicates the timing of transactions or events for 
recognition in the financial statements. 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and 
the accrual basis of accounting, and agency funds have no measurement focus, but utilize the accrual basis of 
accounting for reporting its assets and liabilities. Revenue is recorded when earned and expenses are recorded 
when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as 
revenue in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all 
eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus 
and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenue is recognized as soon as it is both measurable and
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GREGG COUNTY, TEXAS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED

D. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting - Continued

available. Revenue is considered to be available when it is collectible within the current period or soon enough 
thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the County considers revenue to be available 
if collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a 
liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures 
related to compensated absences and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. General 
capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. Issuance of long-term debt and 
acquisitions under capital leases are reported as other financing sources.

Property taxes, sales and other taxes, and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to 
be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenue of the current fiscal period. Entitlements are 
recorded as revenues when all eligibility requirements are met, including any time requirements, and the 
amount is received during the period or within the availability period for this revenue source (within 60 days of 
year-end). Expenditure-driven grants are recognized as revenue when the qualifying expenditures have been 
incurred and all other eligibility requirements have been met, and the amount is received during the period or 
within the availability period for this revenue source (within 60 days of year-end). All other revenue items are 
considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the government.

E. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources and Net Position or Fund Balance

Deposits and Investments

The County’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, and government 
securities.

State statutes authorize the County to invest in obligations of the U. S. Treasury, commercial paper, corporate 
bonds, repurchase agreements, and the State Treasurer’s Investment Pool. Investments for the County are 
reported at fair value.  

Receivables and Payables

Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the 
fiscal year are referred to as either “due to/from other funds” (i.e., the current portion of interfund loans) or 
“advances to/from other funds” (i.e., the noncurrent portion of interfund loans).

All trade and property tax receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles. The allowance of the 
uncollected balance for court fines and fees receivable is currently 85% for CSCD, 50% for Court Collections, 
90% for County Clerk – Civil, and 70% for Justices of the Peace. The property tax allowance is calculated by 
year as a percentage of the outstanding levy. The allowance for property taxes for the current year, with this 
calculation, is approximately 60% of the uncollected balance at . 

Inventories and Prepaid Items 

All inventories are stated at cost using the first-in/first-out (FIFO) method. The costs of inventory items are 
recognized as expenditures in governmental funds when consumed rather than when purchased (consumption 
method). Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as 
prepaid items in both the government-wide and fund financial statements.
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GREGG COUNTY, TEXAS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED

Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment and infrastructure assets (e.g. roads, bridges, sidewalks 
and similar items), are reported in the government-wide financial statements. The County defines capital assets 
as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 for equipment, $25,000 for buildings, and $100,000 
for infrastructure and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or 
estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated 
acquisition cost, which is the price that would be paid to acquire an asset with equivalent service potential at the 
acquisition date.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend 
assets’ lives are not capitalized.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following useful lives:

Assets Years
Buildings 10 - 40
Improvements 10 - 20
Equipment 3 - 20
Infrastructure (streets and drainage) 10 - 35

Compensated Absences

Vacation and sick leave benefits are accumulated by County employees according to formulas adopted by the 
Commissioners’ Court. The County’s policy requires vacation time to be used within 14 months of being 
earned. Upon termination or retirement, employees are paid for any unused vacation time. The County’s policy 
allows for accumulation of sick leave up to 60 days and provides for payment of sick leave accruals only upon 
retirement. At September 30, 2021, a liability has been recorded in the government-wide financial statements 
for accrued vacation time as well as the portion of accumulated sick leave expected to be paid.  

Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions, and pension expenses, information about the fiduciary net position of the Texas 
County and District Retirement System (TCDRS) and additions to/deductions from TCDRS’s fiduciary net 
position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by TCDRS. For this purpose, plan 
contributions are legally due. Benefit payments and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance 
with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

Long-Term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as 
liabilities in the statement of net position.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue recorded as of September 30, 2021 consists of grant funds received for which eligibility 
requirements have not yet been met. 
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GREGG COUNTY, TEXAS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED

       Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position and/or balance sheet will sometimes report a separate 
section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of 
resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be 
recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The County has the following items that 
qualify for reporting in this category:

Pension contributions after the measurement date – These contributions are deferred and 
recognized in the following fiscal year.

Difference in expected and actual actuarial assumptions in the pension plan – This difference is 
deferred and amortized over the average remaining service life for all active, inactive, and retired 
members.

The difference in expected and actual economic experience in the pension plan is deferred and 
recognized over the average remaining service life for all active, inactive, and retired members.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position and/or balance sheet will sometimes report a 
separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of 
resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be 
recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The County has the following items that qualify 
for reporting in this category:

The difference in expected and actual economic experience in the pension plan is deferred and 
recognized over the average remaining service life for all active, inactive, and retired members.

Difference in projected and actual investment earnings on pension assets – This difference is 
deferred and amortized over a closed five-year period.

The County has one type of item that arises only under the modified accrual basis of accounting 
that qualifies for reporting in this category. Accordingly, the item, unavailable revenue, is reported 
only in the governmental funds balance sheet. The governmental funds report unavailable 
revenues from two sources: property taxes and court fines. These amounts are deferred and 
recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available.

Fund Balance Classification

Fund balance of governmental funds is reported in various categories based on the nature of any limitations 
requiring the use of resources for specific purposes. The County itself can establish limitations on the use of 
resources through either a commitment (committed fund balance) or an assignment (assigned fund balance). 

The committed fund balance classification includes amounts that can be used only for the specific purposes 
determined by a formal action of the County’s highest level of decision-making authority – in the County’s 
case, by resolution of the Commissioners’ Court. Prior to the end of the fiscal year, the Commissioners’ Court 
can commit fund balance. Once adopted, the limitation imposed by the Commissioners’ Court remains in place 
until a similar action is taken to remove or revise the limitation.
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GREGG COUNTY, TEXAS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED

Fund Balance Classification – Continued 

Amounts in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the County for specific purposes 
but do not meet the criteria to be classified as committed. The Commissioners’ Court may assign fund balance 
as it does when appropriating fund balance to cover a gap between estimated revenue and appropriations in the 
subsequent year’s appropriated budget. Unlike commitments, assignments generally only exist temporarily. In 
other words, an additional action does not normally have to be taken for the removal of an assignment. 
Conversely, as discussed above, an additional action is essential to either remove or revise a commitment.

Fund Balance Flow Assumption

When expenditures are incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund balance are
available, the County considers unrestricted funds to have been spent first. When expenditures are incurred for 
which committed, assigned, or unassigned fund balances are available, the County considers amounts to have 
been spent first out of unassigned funds, then assigned funds, and finally committed.

Minimum Fund Balance
     

The County’s policy is to budget to maintain a minimum fund balance of 25% of the County’s General Fund 
annual budgeted operating expenditures.

Net Position

Net position represents the difference between assets, deferred inflows/outflows, and liabilities. Net position
invested in capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, is reduced by the outstanding balances of any 
borrowing used for the acquisition, construction or improvements of those assets.  Net position is reported as 
restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use either through the enabling legislations adopted by the 
County or through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors or laws or regulations of other 
governments.

Net Position Flow Assumption

Sometimes the County will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted (e.g., restricted bond or 
grant proceeds) and unrestricted resources. In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted net position 
and unrestricted net position in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements, a flow 
assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied. It is the County’s 
policy to consider unrestricted net position to have been depleted before restricted net position is applied.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosures of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue 
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual amounts could differ from those estimates.
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GREGG COUNTY, TEXAS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED

F. Revenues and Expenditures/Expenses

Program Revenues 

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or 
directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and 
contributions (including special assessments) that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital 
requirements of a particular function or segment. All taxes, including those dedicated for specific purposes, and 
other internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program revenues. 

Property Taxes

Property taxes are levied on October 1 of each year and attach as an enforceable lien on property as of January 
1. Statements are mailed on October 1, or as soon thereafter as possible, and are due upon receipt. All unpaid 
taxes become delinquent if not paid before February 1 of the following year.

Proprietary Funds Operating and Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues 
and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a 
proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the internal service funds 
are charges to other funds for services. Operating expenses for internal service funds include the cost of 
services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting 
this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses. 

G. Accounting Pronouncements

In the current year, the County implemented the following new standard that had a significant impact on the 
financial statements:

GASB Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities (“GASB 84”), establishes criteria for identifying fiduciary 
activities of all state and local governments. An activity meeting the criteria should be reported in a fiduciary 
fund in the basic financial statements. This Statement describes four fiduciary funds that should be reported, if 
applicable: (1) pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds, (2) investment trust funds, (3) private-purpose 
trust funds, and (4) custodial funds. It also provides for recognition of a liability to the beneficiaries in a 
fiduciary fund when an event has occurred that compels the government to disburse fiduciary resources. The 
County had some agency funds that were determined to no longer qualify as fiduciary funds (County Clerk 
Advance, County Clerk Regular, District Clerk Advance, District Clerk Jury, Sheriff Fines and Fees, Sheriff 
Bail Bond Fees, State Fees, Juvenile Probation Operating) due to the GASB 84 analysis and were moved to the 
General Fund. The required changes, due to the implementation of GASB 84, are reflected in the County’s 
financial statements and notes to those statements. As this statement was implemented retroactively, it resulted 
in a restatement of the prior period net position of Fiduciary Activities, restatement of assets, liabilities and net 
position in Governmental Activities, and restatement of fund balance in the General Fund, as follows:

Net position at September 30, 2020, as previously reported -$                     
Addition of net position as calculated pursuant to GASB 84 19,946,624       

Net position September 30, 2020, as restated 19,946,624$     

Gregg County Fiduciary Funds
Statement of Net Position 
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G. Accounting Pronouncements – Continued 

Governmental
Activities GASB Statement Restated 

September 30, 2020 No. 84 Restatement September 30, 2020

Current and other assets 78,873,791$            737,483$                 79,611,274$             
Capital assets 61,790,112              -                               61,790,112               
Total assets 140,663,903            737,483                   141,401,386             

Deferred outflows of resources 2,902,615                -                               2,902,615                 

Long-term liabilities 5,440,649                -                               5,440,649                 
Other liabilities 4,042,163                527,169                   4,569,332                 
Total liabilities 9,482,812                527,169                   10,009,981               

Deferred inflows of resources 4,880,361                -                               4,880,361                 

Net position:
Net investment in 61,788,768              -                               61,788,768               

capital assets
Restricted 10,860,836              -                               10,860,836               
Unrestricted 56,553,741              210,314                   56,764,055               

Total net position 129,203,345$          210,314$                 129,413,659$           

Condensed Statement of Net Position

Fund balance at September 30, 2020, as previously reported 41,265,862$
Addition of fund balance as calculated pursuant to GASB 84 210,314       

Net position September 30, 2020, as restated 41,476,176$

Gregg County General Fund
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

The GASB has issued the following statements which will be effective in future years as described below:

In May 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 95, Postponement of the Effective Dates of Certain Authoritative 
Guidance. This statement provides temporary relief to governments and other stakeholders in light of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. That objective is accomplished by postponing the effective dates of certain provisions in 
Statements and Implementation Guides that first became effective or are scheduled to become effective for 
periods beginning after June 15, 2018 or later. The following pronouncements have been updated to reflect the 
revised effective dates, as applicable.
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G. Accounting Pronouncements – Continued 

GASB Statement No. 87, Leases is effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2021. The objective 
of this statement is to better meet the information needs of financial statement users by improving accounting 
and financial reporting for leases by governments.

GASB Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations is effective for periods beginning December 15, 2021. The 
objective of this statement is to enhance the reporting of conduit debt obligations by issuers and eliminate 
diversity in practice associated with commitments extended by issuers, arrangements with conduit debt 
obligations and related note disclosures. 

GASB Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020 is effective for periods beginning June 15, 2021. The objective of this 
statement is to enhance comparability in accounting and financial reporting and improves the consistency of 
authoritative literature by addressing practice issues that have been identified during implementation and 
application of certain GASB statements. 

GASB Statement No. 93, Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates is effective for periods beginning June 15, 
2021. The objective of this statement is to assist state and local governments in the transition away from 
existing interbank offered rates (IBORs) to other reference rates. 

GASB Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public – Public Partnerships and Availability Payment 
Agreements is effective for periods beginning June 15, 2022. The objective of this statement is to improve
accounting and financial reporting for public–private and public – public partnership arrangements (commonly 
referred to as P3s) and availability payment arrangement (APAs).

GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements is effective for periods 
beginning June 15, 2022. The objective of this statement is to provide accounting and financial reporting 
guidance for subscription-based information technology arrangements (SBITAs). 

GASB Statement No. 97, Certain Component Unit Criteria, and Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans – an amendment of GASB Statements No. 
14 and 84, and a supersession of GASB Statement No. 32 is effective for periods beginning June 15, 2021. The 
objective of this statement is to increase consistency and comparability related to the reporting of fiduciary 
component units in circumstances in which a potential component unit does not have a governing board and 
the primary government performs the duties that a governing board typically would perform, mitigates costs 
associated with the reporting of certain defined contribution plans, defined contribution other postemployment 
benefit (OPEB) plans, and employee benefit plans other than pension plans or OPEB plans (other employee 
benefit plans) as fiduciary component units in fiduciary fund financial statements, and enhances the relevance, 
consistency, and comparability of the accounting and financial reporting for Internal Revenue Code (IRC) 
Section 457 deferred compensation plans (Section 457 plans) that meet the definition of a pension plan and for 
benefits provided through those plans. 

In October 2021, the GASB issued Statement No. 98, The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report, which
establishes the term Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (“ACFR”). The requirements of this statement 
are effective for financial statements for fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2021. The County has 
implemented GASB 98 in this annual report and updated the corresponding language.

The County will implement the new GASB pronouncements in the fiscal year no later than the required effective 
date. 
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2. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT 

 
It was determined during the year ended September 30, 2021, that the County had overstated its court receivables in 
prior years by inadvertently including fully aged, non-recoverable court receivables and by using outdated 
collectability percentages in determining the receivable expected to be collected by the County. Accordingly, the 
County recorded a prior period adjustment in the amount of $3,386,881 to effectively restate beginning net position 
as of September 30, 2020 in the government-wide financial statements. No prior period adjustment was required for 
the governmental fund financial statements, which are reported on the modified accrual basis of accounting. 

 
3. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 

 
The County categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted 
accounting principles. GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application provides a framework for 
measuring fair value which establishes a three-level fair value hierarchy that describes the inputs that are used to 
measure assets and liabilities. 
 

 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active 
markets that a government can access at the measurement date. 
 

 Level 2 inputs are inputs—other than quoted prices included within Level 1—that are 
observable for an asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. 
 

 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for an asset or liability. 
  

The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs and the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs. If a 
price for an identical asset or liability is not observable, a government should measure fair value using another 
valuation technique that maximizes the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable 
inputs. If the fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using inputs from more than one level of the fair value 
hierarchy, the measurement is considered to be based on the lowest priority level input that is significant to the 
entire measurement.  
 
Following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value: 

 
 Certificates of deposit categorized as Level 2 are valued by discounting the related cash flows based on 

current yields of similar instruments with comparable durations considering the credit-worthiness of the 
issuer. 

 Debt securities classified as Level 2 are valued using a matrix pricing technique. Matrix pricing is used to 
value securities based on a securities’ relationship to benchmark quoted prices. 

  

Investment pools are not categorized as to investment risk since specific securities relating to the County cannot be 
identified. The County’s investment pool is TexPool, a local government investment pool established in conformity 
with the Inter-local Cooperation Act, Chapter 791 of the Texas Government Code and the Public Investment Act, 
Chapter 2256 of the Code. The Texas State Comptroller oversees the operations of the investment pool, with a third 
party managing the daily operations of the pool under contract. The fair value of the County’s position in TexPool is 
the same as the value of the pool’s shares. 

 
The County is required by state statute to seek formal bids for depository services. The Investment Policy includes 
collateral requirements in compliance with state statute and is made part of the Depository Contract. Chapter 2256 of 
the Texas Government Code (The Public Funds Investment Act) authorizes and requires the County to invest its funds 
under a written investment policy (the “Investment Policy”) that primarily emphasizes safety of principal and liquidity. 
It also addresses investment diversification, yield, and maturity along with quality and capability of investment 
personnel. The investment policy defines what constitutes the legal list of investments allowed under the policy and the 
Court further limits certain investment instruments allowed under Texas law. Investments are held by the County’s 
agent in the County’s name. The County records all interest revenue earned from investment activities in the respective 
funds. 
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The County’s deposits and investments are invested pursuant to the investment policy, which is approved annually 
by the Commissioners’ Court. The Court appoints an investment committee to review the investment policy and 
submit changes for approval. The appointment of the County’s investment officer is also done annually by 
resolution. The investment officer is authorized to invest in investment instruments provided they meet the 
guidelines of the investment policy. The investment policy includes a list of authorized investment instruments, and 
a maximum allowable stated maturity of any individual investment by source of funds. In addition, the investment 
policy includes an “investment strategy” that specifically addresses investment options and describes the priorities 
of preservation and safety of principal (suitability), liquidity, maturity, marketability, diversification and yield.  

The investment officer submits an investment report quarterly to the Commissioners’ Court as specified by Chapter 
2256 of the Government Code. The report details the investment position of the County and the compliance of the 
investment portfolio as it relates to both the adopted investment policy and Texas State Statute.

The County’s demand deposits are either insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) or 
collateralized with securities held by an independent third-party bank as the County’s agent, in the name of Gregg 
County at . Collateral other than the FDIC insurance is comprised of various governmental agencies’ issues with a 
rating of AAA by Standard & Poor’s. The County’s collateral agreements require the market value of securities held 
by its agents exceed the total amount of cash and investments held by our depository less FDIC. All of the County’s
deposits are insured or collateralized at .  
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At of , the County held the following fair value measurements:

Weighted  
Percent Average 
of Total Maturity

9/30/2021 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Portfolio (Days)
Primary government
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash deposits - County 30,825,155$    
Cash deposits - Custodial funds 20,831,089   

Total cash and cash equivalents 51,656,244     

Investments measured at net asset 
   value per share:
Investment pools:

TexPool - County 4,390,000       8% 48
TexPool - Custodial funds 250,000          0%

Investments by fair value level:
Anchor Bay MI Sch Dist 2,204,466       - 2,204,466 - 4.26% 213
BMW Bank North America 247,787          - 247,787 - 0.48% 89
Capital One Bank USA NA 250,582          - 250,582 - 0.48% 543
Capital One NA 249,081          - 249,081 - 0.48% 176
Federal Agric Mtg Corp Mtn 2,996,616       - 2,996,616 - 5.79% 774
Federal Farm Credit Bank 14,466,692     - 14,466,692 - 27.95% 535
Federal Home Loan Bank 9,987,734       - 9,987,734 - 19.30% 837
Federal Home Loan Mtg Corp 999,293          - 999,293 - 1.93% 638
Federal Natl Mtg Assn 4,033,527       - 4,033,527 - 7.79% 610
Fort Bend Cnty-Ref 1,215,071       - 1,215,071 - 2.35% 883
Kingsport TN 383,066          - 383,066 - 0.74% 517
Laredo Clg TX 283,164          - 283,164 - 0.55% 305
Long Beach City SD 505,385          - 505,385 - 0.98% 562
Mchenry Etc SD #158 240,264          - 240,264 - 0.46% 503
Ocean City MD Txbl 281,249          - 281,249 - 0.54% 107
Oxnard CA Fin Auth Lease 414,574          - 414,574 - 0.80% 609
Platte River Pwr Auth 105,900          - 105,900 - 0.20% 244
Port of Morrow OR Tran Facs Rev 1,014,170       - 1,014,170 - 1.96% 336
Rosedale-Rio Bravo 300,210          - 300,210 - 0.58% 458
Texas St A&M Univ Rev Txbl 227,783          - 227,783 - 0.44% 227
Tulsa Cnty OK ISD #5 Taxable 1,524,465       - 1,524,465 - 2.95% 244
US Treasury Note 3,038,125       - 3,038,125 - 5.87% 784
Certificate of deposits 2,146,897       - 2,146,897 -
Total investments 51,756,101     - 47,116,101 -           

Total cash and investments of
            the primary government 103,412,345$ -$         47,116,101$    -$         

Component unit
Cash deposits 124,801$         

Total cash and investments of
               of the reporting entity 103,537,146$

Fair Value Measurement Using
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Interest Rate Risk. As a means of minimizing risk of loss due to interest rate fluctuations, the investment policy 
limits investment maturities. The maximum pre-approved maturity should not exceed three years. The portfolio 
should include at least three months anticipated expenses in highly liquid securities.

Custodial Credit Risk. In the case of deposits, this is the risk that, in the event of bank failure, the County’s deposits 
may not be returned to it. State statutes require that all deposits in financial institutions be fully collateralized by    
U. S. Government obligations or its agencies and instrumentalities or direct obligations of Texas or its agencies and 
instrumentalities that have a fair value of not less than the principal amount of deposits. On the total carrying 
amount of the County’s deposits was fully collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial institution in 
the County’s name, in money market instruments, or was covered by FDIC insurance.

Credit Risk. Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterpart to an investment will not fulfill its obligations. 
The County has limited credit risk, in conformance to state statutes and County policy, by investing in only the 
safest types of securities as permitted by the Public Funds Investment Act, using approved brokers and investing 
with different issuers. In addition, the County limits its exposure to credit risk by fully insured or collateralized 
deposits, regulated mutual funds and individually approved investment pools. The investment portfolio of the 
County is diversified to avoid incurring undue concentration in securities of one type on , but the policy does not 
restrict the concentration of investments with one specific issuer by an explicit amount.

The County’s investments as of , were rated as follows:

Investment Type Rating Rating Agency

TexPool AAAm Standard & Poor's

Municipal securities AA+ Standard & Poor's

U. S. Agency Securities:
Federal Farm Credit Bank AA+ Standard & Poor's
Federal Home Loan Bank AA+ Standard & Poor's
Federal Home Loan Mtg Corp AA+ Standard & Poor's
Federal Natl Mtg Assn AA+ Standard & Poor's
Fort Lauderdale FL AA+ Standard & Poor's

All significant legal and contractual provisions for investments were complied with during the year. Investments at 
year-end are representative of the types of investments maintained by the County during the year.
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4. RECEIVABLES
Receivables as of year-end for the County’s individual major funds, nonmajor funds in the aggregate, and internal 
service funds including the applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts, are as follows:

Airport American
Road Capital Capital Rescue Nonmajor Internal

General and Bridge Improvement Improvement Plan Funds Service Total

Receivables:
   Taxes 1,302,231$     41,776$         -$                  -$                  -$                  98,946$         -$                1,442,953$          
   Accounts 6,927,850       2,597,485      -                    -                    -                    516,532         22,122        10,063,989          
   Interest 52,609            2,731             7,534            -                    -                    6,269             -                  69,143                 
   Due from other
     governments 3,644,658       -                    -                    30,938          8,760            1,759,138      -                  5,443,494            
Gross receivables 11,927,348     2,641,992      7,534            30,938          8,760            2,380,885      22,122        17,019,579          
Less: allowance for 
   uncollectibles (4,951,892)      (1,410,448)    -                    -                    -                    (370,898)       -                  (6,733,238)           

Net total receivables 6,975,456$     1,231,544$    7,534$          30,938$        8,760$          2,009,987$    22,122$      10,286,341$        

5. CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2021, was as follows:

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Governmental activities:
   Capital assets, not being depreciated:
      Land 2,670,667$    8,514$       -$                2,679,181$    
      Construction in progress 4,366,818      2,194,094  (5,252,857)  1,308,055      
Total assets not being depreciated 7,037,485      2,202,608  (5,252,857)  3,987,236      

   Capital assets, being depreciated:
      Buildings and improvements 57,504,661    2,091,713  -                  59,596,374    
      Equipment 22,457,920    1,404,883  (215,385)     23,647,418    
      Infrastructure 98,527,697    2,876,814  -                  101,404,511  
Total capital assets being depreciated 178,490,278  6,373,410  (215,385)     184,648,303  

   Accumulated depreciation:
      Buildings and improvements (34,026,685)   (2,040,046) -                  (36,066,731)   
      Equipment (17,704,238)   (1,232,841) 215,385       (18,721,694)   
      Infrastructure (72,006,728)   (3,690,431) -                  (75,697,159)   
Total accumulated depreciation (123,737,651) (6,963,318) 215,385       (130,485,584)

Total capital assets being 
   depreciated, net 54,752,627    (589,908)    -                  54,162,719    

Governmental activities capital 
   assets, net 61,790,112$  1,612,700$ (5,252,857)$ 58,149,955$  
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Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the governmental activities of the primary government 
as follows:

Governmental activities:
   General government 3,367,471$         

Health and human services 13,362              
   Judicial 29,729              
   Public buildings 1,487,134         

Public safety 466,794            
   Transportation and roads 1,598,828         

            Total depreciation expense - governmental activities 6,963,318$         

6. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS

The composition of interfund balances as of , is as follows:

Due To/From Other Funds:

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount

General Grant 1,489,332$    
General VIT Operating 3,858
Self Insurance Print Shop 49,677

1,542,867$     

The outstanding balances between funds result mainly from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods 
and services are provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting 
system, and (3) payments between funds are made. These amounts also include the balance of working capital loans 
made to nonmajor governmental funds which the general fund expects to collect in the subsequent year.

Interfund Transfers:

Road Capital Nonmajor
General and Bridge Improvement Governmental Total

Transfer out:
   General -$                 160,000$  5,576,688$    746,911$        6,483,599$     

Road and bridge -                   -                288,165         -                     288,165          
   Capital improvement 45,715          -                -                    -                     45,715            
   Nonmajor governmental -                   -                -                    56,691 56,691            

       Total transfers out 45,715$        160,000$  5,864,853$    803,602$        6,874,170$     

Transfer In
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Interfund Transfers: - Continued

Transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them to the fund that 
statute or budget requires to expend them, and (2) use unrestricted revenues collected in the General Fund to finance 
various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations.

7. LONG-TERM DEBT

Changes in Long-Term Liabilities

Long-term liability activity for the year ended , was as follows:

Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Governmental activities
   Capital leases payable 1,343$                -$                        1,064$                279$                     279$                    
   Compensated absences 1,383,791        12,441              117,611           1,278,621          1,055,705         
   Net pension liability 4,055,515        8,224,114         4,593,826        7,685,803          -                          
            Governmental activity
               long-term liabilities 5,440,649$         8,236,555$          4,712,501$         8,964,703$           1,055,984$          

For compensated absences and the net pension liability, the General Fund normally liquidates approximately 80% of 
this liability. The Road and Bridge special revenue fund liquidates approximately 15% of the liability with the 
remaining liability being liquidated by nonmajor governmental funds.

8. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN

Plan Description. The County participates in a nontraditional defined benefit pension plan in the statewide Texas 
County and District Retirement System (“TCDRS”). The Board of Trustees of TCDRS is responsible for the 
administration of the statewide agent, multiple-employer, public employee retirement system consisting of 
nontraditional defined benefit pension plans. TCDRS issues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial 
report (CAFR) that can be obtained at www.tcdrs.org.

All full and part time non-temporary employees participate in the plan, regardless of the number of hours they work 
in a year. Employees in a temporary position are not eligible for membership. 

Benefits Provided. TCDRS provides retirement, disability and survivor benefits for all eligible employees. Benefit 
terms are established by the TCDRS Act. The benefit terms may be amended as of January 1, each year, but must 
remain in conformity with the Act.

Members can retire at age 60 and above with 8 or more years of service, with 20 years of service regardless of age, 
or when the sum of their age and years of service equals 75 or more. Members are vested after eight years of service 
but must leave their accumulated contributions in the plan to receive any employer-financed benefit. Members who 
withdraw their personal contributions in a lump sum are not entitled to any amounts contributed by their employer.

Benefit amounts are determined by the sum of the employee’s contributions to the plan, with interest, and employer-
financed monetary credits. The level of these monetary credits is adopted by the governing body of the employer 
within the actuarial constraints imposed by the TCDRS Act so that the resulting benefits can be expected to be 
adequately financed by the employer’s commitment to contribute. By law, employee accounts earn 7% interest. At 
retirement, death or disability, the benefit is calculated by converting the sum of the employee’s accumulated 



44

GREGG COUNTY, TEXAS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021

     8.   DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN - CONTINUED

contributions and the employer-financed monetary credits to a monthly annuity using annuity purchase rates 
prescribed by the TCDRS Act.

Employees covered by benefit terms

At the December 31, 2020 valuation and measurement date, the following employees were covered by the benefit 
terms:

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 429      
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 651      
Active employees 627      

1,707   

Contributions. The contribution rates for employees in TCDRS are either 4%, 5%, 6%, or 7% of employee gross 
earnings, as adopted by the employer’s governing body. Participating employers are required to contribute at 
actuarially determined rates to ensure adequate funding for each employer’s plan. Under the state law governing 
TCDRS, the contribution rate for each entity is determined annually by the actuary and approved by the TCDRS 
Board of Trustees. The replacement life entry age actuarial cost method is used in determining the contribution rate. 
The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to fund benefits in an orderly manner for each 
participant over his or her career so that sufficient funds are accumulated by the time benefit payments begin, with 
an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability.

Employees for the County were required to contribute 7% of their annual gross earnings during the fiscal year. The 
contribution rates for the County were 11.86% in calendar years 2020 and 2021. The County’s contributions to 
TCDRS for the year ended September 30, 2021, were $3,354,352 and were equal to the required contributions.

Net Pension Liability. The County’s Net Pension Liability (NPL) was measured as of December 31, 2020, and the 
Total Pension Liability (TPL) used to calculate the Net Pension Liability was determined by an actuarial valuation 
as of that date.

Actuarial Assumptions

The Total Pension Liability in the December 31, 2020 actuarial valuation was determined using the following 
actuarial assumptions:

Inflation 2.50% per year
Overall payroll growth 4.6% per year
Investment rate of return 7.50%, net of pension plan investment 

expense, including inflation
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Mortality rates for active members, retirees, and beneficiaries were based on the following:

Depositing members 90% of the RP-2014 Active Employee Mortality Table for
males and 90% of the RP-2014 Active Employee Mortality
Table for females, projected with 110% of the MP-2014
Ultimate scale after 2014.

Service retirees, beneficiaries and
non-depositing members

130% of the RP-2014 Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table 
for males and 110% of the RP-2014 Healthy Annuitant 
Mortality Table for females, both projected with 110% of 
the MP-2014 Ultimate scale after 2014.

Disabled retirees 130% of the RP-2014 Disabled Annuitant Mortality Table
for males and 115% of the RP-2014 Disabled Annuitant
Mortality Table for females, both projected with 110% of
the MP-2014 Ultimate scale after 2014

The actuarial assumptions that determined the total pension liability as of December 31, 2020 were based on the 
results of an actuarial experience study for the period January 1, 2013 through December 31, 2016, except where 
required to be different by GASB 68. The economic assumptions were reviewed at the March 2021 TCDRS Board 
of Trustees meeting and revised assumptions were adopted. These revisions included reductions in the investment 
return, wage growth, and maximum payroll growth assumptions. The assumptions are reviewed annually for 
continued compliance with the relevant actuarial standards of practice.

The long-term expected rate of return on TCDRS assets is determined by adding expected inflation to expected 
long-term real returns and reflecting expected volatility and correlation. The capital market assumptions and 
information shown below are provided by TCDRS’ investment consultant, Cliffwater LLC. The numbers shown are 
based on January 2021 information for a 10-year time horizon. The valuation assumption for long-term expected 
return is re-assessed at a minimum of every four years and is set based on a long-term time horizon. The TCDRS 
Board of Trustees adopted the current assumption at their March 2021 meeting. The assumption is reviewed 
annually for continued compliance with relevant standards of practice.



46

GREGG COUNTY, TEXAS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2021

     8.   DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN - CONTINUED

The target allocation and best estimates of geometric real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized 
in the following table:

Geometric Real
Rate of Return

Target (Expected minus
Asset Class Benchmark Allocation (1) Inflation) (2)

US Equities Dow Jones U.S. Total Stock Market Index 11.50% 4.25%

Private Equity Cambridge Associates Global Private 
Equity & Venture Capital Index (3) 25.00% 7.25%

Global Equities MSCI World (net) Index 2.50% 4.55%

International Equities - Developed MSCI World Ex USA (net) 5.00% 4.25%

International Equities - Emerging MSCI EM Standard (net) Index 6.00% 4.75%

Investment-Grade Bonds Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Aggregate Bond 
Index

3.00% -0.85%

Strategic Credit FTSE High-Yield Cash-Pay Capped Index 9.00% 2.11%
Direct Lending S&P/LSTA Leveraged Loan Index 16.00% 6.70%

Distressed Debt

Cambridge Associates Real Estate Index (4) 4.00% 5.70%

REIT Equities 67% FTSE NAREIT Equity REITs Index + 
33% Global Real Estate (net) Index

2.00% 3.45%

Master Limited Partnerships (MLPs) Alerian MLP Index 2.00% 5.10%

Private Real Estate Partnerships

Cambridge Associates Real Estate Index (5) 6.00% 4.90%

Hedge Funds Hedge Fund Research, Inc. (HFRI) Fund of 
Funds Composite Index

6.00% 1.85%

(1) Target asset allocation adopted at the March 2021 TCDRS Board meeting.
(2) Geometric real rates of return equal the expected return minus the assumed inflation rate of 2.0%, per Cliffwater's 

2021 capital market assumptions.
(3) Includes vintage years 2005-present of Quarter Pooled Horizon IRRs.
(4)  Includes vintage years 2007-present of Quarter Pooled Horizon IRRs.
(5)  Includes vintage years 2006-present of Quarter Pooled Horizon IRRs.

Discount Rate
The discount rate used to measure the Total Pension Liability was 7.6%. This rate reflects the long-term assumed 
rate of return on assets for funding purposes of 7.5%, net of all expenses, increased by 0.1% to be gross of 
administrative expenses.
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Since the projected fiduciary net position is projected to be sufficient to pay projected benefit payments in all future 
years, the discount rate for purposes of calculating the total pension liability and net pension liability of the 
employer is equal to the long-term assumed rate of return on investments. This long-term assumed rate of return 
should be net of investment expenses, but gross of administrative expenses for GASB 68 purposes.

Changes in the Net Pension Liability

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability

(a) (b) (a) - (b)

Balance at 12/31/2019 151,394,976$        147,339,461$        4,055,515$          

Changes for the year:
Service cost 3,508,234             -                            3,508,234           
Interest on total pension liability (1) 12,220,941           -                            12,220,941         
Effect of economic/demographic gains or 
losses

(1,012,624)           -                            (1,012,624)         

Effect of assumptions changes or inputs 9,128,541             9,128,541           
Refund of contributions (479,857)              (479,857)               -                         
Benefit payments (7,734,860)           (7,734,860)            -                         
Administrative expenses -                           (116,591)               116,591              
Member contributions -                           1,926,685             (1,926,685)         
Net investment income -                           15,214,977           (15,214,977)       
Employer contributions -                           3,264,409             (3,264,409)         
Other (2) -                           (74,676)                 74,676                

Balance at 12/31/2020 167,025,351$        159,339,548$        7,685,803$          

Increase (Decrease)

(1)  Reflects the change in the liability due to the time value of money. TCDRS does not charge fees or 
interest.

Sensitivity Analysis

The following presents the net pension liability of the County, calculated using the discount rate of 7.6%, as well as 
what the County’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point 
lower (6.6%) or 1-percentage-higher (8.6%) than the current rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

6.6% 7.6% 8.6%

Total pension liability 188,596,426$        167,025,351$        148,965,356$        
Fiduciary net position 159,339,550          159,339,548          159,339,550          
Net pension liability/(asset) 29,256,876$          7,685,803$            (10,374,194)$        
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Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about the pension plan’s Fiduciary Net Position is available in a separately-issued TCDRS 
financial report. The report may be obtained at www.tcdrs.org.

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

For the year ended September 30, 2021, the County recognized pension expense of $2,317,691. At September 30, 
2021, the County reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from 
the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
Ouflows Inflows

of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected and 
actual economic experience 70,385$            1,332,276$       
Changes in actuarial assumptions 6,846,406      -                       
Difference between projected and 
actual investment earnings -                       5,500,465      
Contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date 2,605,152      -                       

Total 9,521,943$       6,832,741$       

Of the deferred outflows of resources, $2,605,152 was related to pension employer contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date which will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ending September 
30, 2022. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions will be 
recognized in pension expenses as follows:

For The Year
Ended September 30

2022 (264,996)$          
2023 1,868,425          
2024 (837,750)            
2025 (681,629)            

Total 84,050$             
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Construction Commitments

The County is committed under various contracts, including construction contracts for County facilities and 
buildings. At year-end, the County’s commitments with contractors are as follows:

Project Spent To-Date Commitment
Capital road & bridge 333,734$              484,819$          
Airport improvements 414,943                3,824,403         
Computer upgrades 12,600                  132,386            
Renovations & capital acquisitions 960,692                1,417,075         
Other 497,955                1,033,386         

2,219,924$           6,892,069$       

Contingent Liabilities

Amounts received or receivable from grant agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by grantor agencies, 
principally the federal government. Any disallowed claims, including amounts already collected, may constitute a 
liability of the applicable funds. The amount, if any, of expenditures that may be disallowed by the grantor cannot be 
determined at this time, although the County expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.

10. RISK MANAGEMENT

The County and/or employees of the County are defendants in various lawsuits. Although the outcome of these 
lawsuits is not presently determinable, in the opinion of the County's legal counsel, the resolution of these matters 
will not have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the County.

The County provides for the management of risks through a combination of self-insurance and traditional insurance. 
The County is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors 
and omissions; and natural disasters. During fiscal year 2021, the County was covered under a general liability 
insurance plan. Additionally, the County has commercial insurance for other risks of loss, including workers’ 
compensation, unemployment compensation, public official liability, property and employee life, accident insurance, 
and law enforcement liability. There were no significant reductions in insurance coverage, nor did any settlement 
exceed coverage in the past three years.

11. TAX ABATEMENTS

The County enters into property tax abatement agreements with local businesses under the provisions of the 
Property Redevelopment and Tax Abatement Act found in Chapter 312 of the Texas Tax Code. The Property 
Redevelopment and Tax Abatement Act provides governing bodies the power to establish Enterprise Zones and 
Reinvestment Zones for the abatement of ad valorem taxes assessed against real property or tangible personal 
property located on the real property provided that certain conditions as detailed in the law are met. The goal of tax 
abatement is to provide long term significant positive impact on the community and to utilize area contractors and 
work force to the maximum extent feasible by developing, redeveloping and improving real property. 
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For the year ended September 30, 2021, the County abated property taxes totaling $344,025 under this program,
including the following tax abatement agreements:

Type of Business Purpose
Percent 
Abated

Amount 
Abated

Dollar General

Construction and improvement 
to real property; personal 
property investment; jobs 

creation

100% 247,383$     

Skeeter Products, Inc.

Construction and improvement 
to real property; personal 
property investment; jobs 

creation

100% 6,418$         

Hammer Time Owner 

Construction and improvement 
to real property; personal 
property investment; jobs 

creation

100% 46,259$       

Orgill Inc.

Construction and improvement 
to real property; personal 
property investment; jobs 

creation

100% 24,485$       

Ryder Truck Rental

Construction and improvement 
to real property; personal 
property investment; jobs 

creation

100% 7,169$         

Indevco Plastics

Construction and improvement 
to real property; personal 
property investment; jobs 

creation

100% 12,311$       

During the year ended September 30, 2021, the County entered into tax abatement agreements with multiple entities 
for construction and improvement to real property, personal property investment, and creation of jobs. As a result, 
the County estimates abatement of property taxes in the amount of $415,523 for the year beginning October 1, 2021.

12. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent events have been evaluated for potential recognition or disclosure in the financial statements through
June 28, 2022, the date which the combined financial statements were available to be issued.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. Budgetary Information

Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles. State law provides 
that amendments approved by the Commissioners Court may be made to the original budget provided that funds are 
available for the added expenditures. Reported budget amounts reflect the budget as originally adopted and all budget 
amendments and transfers approved by the Commissioners Court. Revenues are budgeted at the account level and 
expenditures are budgeted at the category/department level with the following categories: salaries, fringe benefits, 
operating, and capital outlay.

The County uses encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders are recorded in order to reserve that portion 
of the applicable appropriation. All open purchase orders lapse at year-end and are subject to re-appropriation in the 
subsequent year’s budgetary process.  

Budgetary comparison schedules are presented as required supplementary information for the General Fund and for 
each major capital project and special revenue fund. The budgetary comparison schedules included in the required 
supplementary information present a comparison of budgetary data to actual results of operations for the General Fund, 
Road and Bridge Fund, Capital Improvement Fund, Airport Capital Improvement Fund, and American Rescue Plan 
Fund. Comparisons of budgetary data to actual results of operations for the Airport Fund (nonmajor special revenue), 
Law Enforcement Fund (nonmajor special revenue), Court Technology and Security Fund (nonmajor special revenue), 
Records Management and Preservation Fund (nonmajor special revenue), Voting and Elections (nonmajor special 
revenue), Grant Fund (nonmajor special revenue), Law Library Fund (nonmajor special revenue),  Health Care Fund 
(nonmajor special revenue) and Coronavirus Relief Fund (nonmajor special revenue) are presented as supplementary 
information.  

The following nonmajor special revenue funds do not have legally adopted budgets; therefore, no budgetary 
comparison schedules are presented: Code Enforcement Fund, VIT Operating Fund, Local Truancy 
Prevention/Diversion Fund, District Attorney Fund, and Sheriff Fund.

B. Excess of Expenditures Over Appropriations

For the year ended September 30, 2021, expenditures exceeded appropriations in the Road & Bridge Operating 
accounts for Precincts 1 and 4 as reported on the Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance 
– Budget and Actual reported budget overages due to a non-cash adjustment to the value of donated Reclaimed Asphalt 
Pavement (RAP). Texas Department of Transportation provided information on the valuation of donated RAP, which 
the County used to adjust their inventory of RAP. The inventory adjustment was required for inventory accounting in 
accordance with GAAP, which is the basis the County uses for budget reporting. However, there was not an overage 
on the available resources method (i.e. cash method) therefore the budget amendment was inadvertently overlooked.









COMBINING AND INDIVIDUAL 
FUND STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES



NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Special Revenue Funds are used to account for specific revenues that are legally restricted to expenditure for 
particular purposes. 

Airport Fund – This fund accounts for the activities of the East Texas Regional Airport. 

Law Enforcement Fund – This fund is used to account for law enforcement revenues and expenditures 
restricted by federal and state statutes. 

Court Technology and Security Fund – This fund accounts for the fees collected from defendants in 
criminal cases pursuant to the Code of Criminal Procedure §102.0169, §102.017, and §102.0173. Proceeds 
are used to cover the costs of continuing education and training for the judges and clerks on technological 
enhancements and for the purchase and maintenance of technological enhancements including computer 
systems, networks, hardware and software, imaging systems, electronic kiosks, and docket management 
systems.

Records Management and Preservation Fund – This fund is used to account for receipts and 
disbursements related to the record management and preservation program. Resources from this fund are 
used to manage, organize, promote, implement, preserve, and maintain county records. 

Voting and Elections Fund – This fund is used to account for activities related to voting and elections 
within the County which are restricted by federal and state statutes.

Grant Fund – This fund is used to account for activities related to federal, state, and local grants received 
by the County. 

Law Library Fund – This fund accounts for fees collected pursuant to Local Government Code §323.023 
for the operations of the law library.

Health Care Fund – This fund is used to account for the federal and state funding received for health care 
activities. 

Code Enforcement Fund – This fund is used to account for the activities related to code enforcement. 

VIT Operating Fund – This fund is used to account for the vehicle inventory tax functions of the County 
tax office. 

Local Truancy Prevention/Diversion - This fund accounts for fees collected for Justice of the Peace level
misdemeanors pursuant to Local Government Code 134.156. Proceeds can be used to finance the position
of a juvenile case manager or programs directly related to the position.

District Attorney Fund – This fund accounts for all receipts and disbursements related to the discretionary 
funding of the District Attorney. 

Sheriff Fund – This fund is used to account for the inmate welfare activities at the County jail as well as 
asset forfeitures. These funds are restricted by the statute. 

Coronavirus Relief Fund – This fund is used to account for expenditures specific to addressing the 
Coronavirus pandemic and the reimbursement of those expenditures by the Coronavirus Relief Funds 
Federal grant.















INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

Internal Service Funds are used to account for services provided to other departments or agencies of the County 
on a cost-reimbursement basis. 

Print Shop Fund – This fund was established in 2001 and accounts for printing functions provided to
County departments. Operational cost associated with the print shop are supported by charges to user
departments. 

Self-insurance Fund – This fund accounts for revenues and expenses related to employee insurance
benefits. The County provides health and dental benefits for full-time employees. The County transitioned
to a self-funded medical plan from a traditional fully-insured plan in fiscal year 2001 to help lower costs.









FIDUCIARY FUNDS
 FUNDS

Custodial funds are used to account for short-term custodial collections of resources on behalf of another 
individual, entity, or government. 

Tax Assessor-Collector Fund – This fund is used to account for funds held by the Tax Office as an agent
for other taxing entities. Collections are initially accounted for here and subsequently submitted to the
appropriate State, County or other taxing entity. It is also used to account for interest earned on the Vehicle
Inventory Tax for the Tax Assessor-Collector to defray the cost of administration of the prepayment
procedure.

County Clerk Special Trust Account – An agency account used to facilitate the collection and
disbursement of funds held in trust by court order. The Account is used to hold monies for individuals such
as cash bonds, minors (trusts), monies held in estate and ad litem fee deposits. 

District Clerk Trust Fund – Agency account used to facilitate the collection and disbursement of funds
ordered held in trust by district courts. The Account is used to hold monies for individuals such as cash
bonds, minors (trusts), and ad litem fee deposits. 

Sheriff Cash Bond Account – Agency account used to facilitate the collection and disbursement of cash
bonds. 

Sheriff Inmate Trust Account – Trust account is used to facilitate the collection and disbursement of
inmate commissary items as well as items charged to the inmate accounts such as medications, doctor/nurse
visits, indigent supplies and destruction of property.

Sheriff Asset & Seizure Pending – This fund is used to account for monies seized in criminal cases. The
funds are held until their disposition, primarily as forfeitures to law enforcement agencies and the District
Attorney’s office, as established by court order.

District Attorney Fund – This fund is used to account for restitution payable to victims and temporarily
holds fees collected on hot checks. 

Code Forfeiture Pending Fund – This funding is used to account for monies seized in criminal cases. The
funds are held until their disposition, primarily as forfeitures to law enforcement agencies and the District
Attorney’s office, as established by court order.  

Gregg/Harrison First Call Warning Fund – This fund is used to account for donations and payments of
funding for software to run a First Call Warning system. The fund has been inactive in recent years. 

Juvenile Probation Trust Fund – Agency account used to facilitate the collection of probation fees,
court costs, attorney and interpreter fees and victim restitution related to juveniles under supervision by the
Juvenile Probation Department.

Adult Probation Fund – This fund is used to account for funds held by the County for the Gregg County
Adult Probation Department or the Gregg County Community and Correction Department.

Local Provider Participation Fund – This fund is used to account for local third-party funding provided
for the Texas Medicaid Supplemental and directed payment program and passed through to the Texas
Health & Human Services Commission.



































Governmental activities:

Business-type activities:

Governmental activities:

Business-type activities:





Governmental activities

Business-type activities





*The fund balances reported prior to the GASB
Statement 54 implementation are reported with
reservations and designations as they were reported in
those years.













































 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 
AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 
 
The Honorable County Judge 
     and Members of the Commissioners’ Court 
Gregg County,  
Longview, Texas 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States the financial statements of the governmental activities, the discretely presented 
component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Gregg County, Texas (the 
“County”), as of and for the year ended September 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise County’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated June 28, 2022.  
 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the County’s internal control over 
financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances 
for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the County’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness 
of County’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements, on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will 
not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention 
by those charged with governance.  
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and 
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or, significant 
deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. We 
identified a deficiency in internal control, described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs 
as item 2021-001 that we consider to be a material weakness. 
 
Compliance and Other Matters  

 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the County’s financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial 
statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our 
audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of 
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Gregg County’s Response to Finding 

Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on Gregg County’s response to 
the finding identified in our audit and described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. Gregg 
County’s response was not subjected to the other auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements 
and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response. 

 
Purpose of this Report  

 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on 
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any 
other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

           Longview, Texas 
           June 28, 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM  
AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE  

 
 
 

The Honorable County Judge 
     and Members of the Commissioners’ Court 
Gregg County,  
Longview, Texas 
 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program  

We have audited Gregg County, Texas (the “County”) compliance with the types of compliance requirements 
described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of County’s major 
federal programs for the year ended September 30, 2021. The County’s major federal programs are identified in the 
summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.  

Management’s Responsibility 

Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of its federal 
awards applicable to its federal programs. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the County’s major federal programs based on 
our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of compliance in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to 
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; 
and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those standards 
and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material 
effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the County’s 
compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances. 

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal program. 
However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the County’s compliance.  

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

In our opinion, the County complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements referred to 
above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended September 
30, 2021.  

Report on Internal Control over Compliance  

Management of the County is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over compliance 
with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we 
considered the County’s internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and 
material effect on each major federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test and 
report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the County’s internal control over compliance. 

 



 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance 
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A 
material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material 
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance.  

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that 
we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal 
control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform Guidance. 
Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

      Longview, Texas 
        June 28, 2022 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 







Uniform Guidance.



Uniform Guidance



Criteria or specific 
requirement:

Condition:

Context:

Effect:

Cause:

Recommendation:

Views of responsible 
officials and planned 
corrective action:

Government Auditing Standards






